IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SHARON MCGILL, an individual, Plaintiff and Respondent,



v.

SUPREME COURT FILED

CITIBANK, N.A.,

Defendant and Appellant.

JUL 3 1 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF
APPEAL,
FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION
THREE
CASE G049838

Deputy

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT,
COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE,
CASE NO. RIC1109398, ASSIGNED FOR
ALL PURPOSES
TO JUDGE PRO TEM JOHN W. VINEYARD,
DEPARTMENT 12

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CAPSTONE LAW APC
GLENN A. DANAS (SBN 270317)
RYAN H. WU (SBN 222323)
LIANA CARTER (SBN 201974)
1840 CENTURY PARK EAST, SUITE 450
LOS ANGELES, CA 90067
TELEPHONE: (310) 556-4811

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Does the FAA require enforcement of a private arbitration agreement that completely prohibits a consumer claimant from pursuing a statutory remedy that the California Legislature provided for the purpose of protecting public rights, such as a public injunction to protect California consumers?
- 2. Does the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§1 et seq. ("FAA") impliedly preempt the rule announced in Broughton v. Cigna Healthplans of California (1999) 21 Cal.4th 1066 and Cruz v. PacifiCare Health Systems, Inc. (2003) 30 Cal.4th 303, especially under the circumstances in this case, where Citibank's arbitration agreement prohibits the award of public injunctive relief against it in any forum?

INTRODUCTION

California's robust consumer protection regime empowers those harmed by an unlawful business practice not only to seek damages for themselves, but to serve as private attorneys general to protect the public. Among the host of remedies available to a plaintiff is the right to enjoin a defendant from further unlawful, unfair or fraudulent practices directed at the general public. This Court has repeatedly recognized the importance of such public-interest enforcement actions to supplement the actions of law enforcement and regulatory agencies in protecting Californians from deceptive consumer practices.

Asserting claims on behalf of herself and the general public, Plaintiff and Respondent Sharon McGill filed suit, in part, to enjoin Defendant and Appellant Citibank, N.A. ("Citibank") from continuing its deceptive marketing of its Credit Protector program and its practice of charging a fee to applicants who later fail to qualify for enrollment in the program. However, within a unilateral amendment to its cardholder agreement, Citibank inserted a mandatory arbitration provision (the "Agreement") that not only forced all future claims into arbitration, but also precluded any arbitrator from awarding injunctive relief to benefit the public. Citibank's Agreement further banned all private attorney general actions or other representative suits. Enforcing this provision, as authorized by the court below, would essentially insulate Citibank from private enforcement actions altogether.

On a strikingly similar set of facts, this Court in *Iskanian* v. CLS Transportation Los Angeles, LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348

invalidated a ban on representative actions as applied to actions under the Private Attorneys General Act ("PAGA," Labor Code sections 2698 et seq.). Iskanian held that waivers of actions for the public's benefit violate California law, and that this California law is not preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), which covers private disputes, not public law enforcement actions. Iskanian's reasoning dictates that this Court invalidate Citibank's ban on private attorney general and representative actions, to the extent it bars McGill from seeking injunctive relief for the public's benefit in any forum.

Moreover, this Court in *Broughton* and *Cruz* preserved the right of California consumers to seek injunctive relief in court. Creating what has become known as the "Broughton-Cruz rule," this pair of decisions provided that, in the narrow area of public injunctions, the institutional shortcomings of arbitration namely, the inability of arbitrators to supervise conduct and modify injunctions after the award has been confirmed or to bind third parties—render these remedies ineffective in arbitration. The fundamental premise of the Broughton-Cruz rule is that claims for public injunctive relief may not be forced into arbitration where an arbitrator cannot grant the remedy sought. Where, as here, the arbitration agreement itself explicitly denies the arbitrator that authority, application of Broughton-Cruz to deny enforcement of the agreement as to claims for public injunctive relief is not preempted, as the FAA itself incorporates the principle that arbitration agreements may not waive substantive rights, such as the right to seek public injunctive

relief under California law.

Indeed, U.S. Supreme Court precedent, including American Express Co. v. Italian Colors Restaurants (2013) 133 S.Ct. 2304 ("Italian Colors"), strongly reinforces that an arbitration agreement that precludes pursuit of public injunctive relief is unenforceable. The Court in Italian Colors held that, though arbitration agreements should generally be enforced according to their terms, an agreement is not enforceable to the extent it seeks prospectively to waive a claimant's right to assert statutory rights or to pursue statutory remedies. As Citibank's Agreement requires arbitration of all claims, yet precludes the arbitrator from awarding relief that would benefit any non-party to the arbitration, it effectively forbids signatories like McGill from pursuing the remedy of public injunctive relief under California's consumer protection statutes in any forum. Citibank's Agreement therefore violates one of the key limits placed on the enforcement of arbitration agreements by the U.S. Supreme Court.

Even absent such an agreement that explicitly bans public injunctive relief, the *Broughton-Cruz* principle that institutional limits on arbitrators' power render claims for public injunctive relief nonarbitrable remains valid and escapes FAA preemption for the reasons given in *Broughton* and *Cruz* themselves as well as because of the limits on FAA preemption recognized in subsequent opinions such as *Iskanian* and *Sonic-Calabasas A*, *Inc. v. Moreno* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1109. However, the Court need not reach the continued validity of the full extent of the

Broughton-Cruz rule to reverse the Court of Appeal's holding.

Indeed, Citibank's ban on McGill's right to pursue public injunctive relief in *any* forum should be invalidated solely on the principles articulated by this Court in *Iskanian* and by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Italian Colors*. Alternatively, based on the fundamental proposition that the claim for public injunctive relief must remain available in *some* forum, this Court may remand the matter so that the trial court, or the arbitrator, if appropriate, can decide whether McGill's proposed injunctive relief would be within the arbitrator's powers to grant. In any case, the decision below should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. CITIBANK HAD A PRACTICE OF SELLING ITS "CREDIT PROTECTOR" SERVICE TO INELIGIBLE CONSUMERS

Citibank markets and sells to its cardholders an insurance service called Credit Protector.¹ (1 Clerk's Transcript ["CT"] 2 [¶2-4].) A cardholder who purchases the Credit Protector service pays a monthly premium calculated as a *pro rata* portion of his credit card balance. (1 CT 2 [¶5]; 1 CT 4 [¶18]; 1 CT 5 [¶19].) Citibank advertises that, should a cardholder with Credit Protector face certain types of financial hardship, the service will protect him from becoming delinquent on his account. (1 CT 2 [¶4]; 1 CT 5 [¶¶19-20].) Citibank represents, for example, that it will defer or credit certain amounts or even cancel new balances for qualifying events. (*Id.*)

However, the Credit Protector's limitations, exclusions and conditions are so numerous and complex that it is extremely difficult or impossible for the cardholder to obtain its benefits. (1 CT 5-7 [¶¶21-24].) Before marketing the Credit Protector service to a given cardholder or accepting the cardholder's monthly premium payment, Citibank makes no effort to determine whether that cardholder ever could be eligible to receive benefits under the service. (*Id.*) Citibank does not disclose all limitations and conditions to prospective customers at or before the time of sale. (*Id.*) Citibank also systematically processes claims in such a way as to delay or deny benefits under the service despite the

¹ These facts are based on the allegations stated in the complaint. Due to Citibank's prompt filing of the motion to compel arbitration, no discovery has yet been conducted.

cardholder's eligibility for them—for example, by purporting to lose documents provided by cardholders required to evaluate a claim for benefits. (1 CT 7-8 [\P 27-30].)

McGill was a Citibank cardholder who purchased the Credit Protector service from Citibank and paid a monthly premium for that coverage. (1 CT 8-9 [¶¶33-36, 42].) Shortly after McGill became unemployed, she applied for benefits under the Credit Protector service, providing documents and filling out forms as Citibank requested. (1 CT 8-9 [¶¶37-39].) However, Citibank then told her the documents were insufficient and claimed to have lost some of the documents she had provided. (1 CT 9 [¶39].)

Due to Citibank's delays in providing her with the benefits of the service she had purchased, McGill incurred late fees and interest charges on her Citibank credit card account and her credit score was damaged. (1 CT 9 [¶44-45].)

II. MCGILL SOUGHT A PUBLIC INJUNCTION, ALONG WITH OTHER REMEDIES, AGAINST CITIBANK'S UNLAWFUL BUSINESS PRACTICE

McGill filed suit on May 27, 2011, asserting four causes of action arising from Citibank's marketing, sale, and implementation of its Credit Protector service. (1 CT 1-3 [¶¶2-6].) She brought claims both on her own behalf and on behalf of a proposed class under California's Unfair Competition Law (the "UCL," Business & Professions Code sections 17200, et seq.), the False Advertising Law (the "FAL," Business & Professions Code sections 17500, et seq.), the Consumer Legal Remedies Act ("CLRA," California Civil Code sections 1750, et seq.) and

Insurance Code section 1758.9, et seq. (Improper Sale of Insurance). (1 CT 1.) Through these claims, McGill sought to enjoin Citibank from continuing to improperly market and sell the Credit Protector insurance program to the public at large, and for failing to implement the program lawfully by charging applicants who do not qualify for the program a fee, as well as for monetary damages and restitution. (1 CT 23-24 [¶¶1-13].)

On August 26, 2011, Citibank filed a petition to compel McGill to arbitrate her claims on an individual basis, which McGill opposed. (1 CT 31-57; 3 CT 859-881.) Citibank relied on arbitration terms provided to McGill through a "Notice of Change of Terms" to her Citibank card, which read in relevant part:

Effective on the day after the Statement/Closing Date indicated on your November 2001 billing statement, we are amending your existing Citibank Card Agreement to include the following provision regarding binding arbitration.

Either you or we may, without the other's consent, elect mandatory, binding arbitration for any claim, dispute, or controversy between you and us (called "Claims").

All Claims relating to your account or a prior related account, or our relationship are subject to arbitration... A party who initiates a proceeding in court may elect arbitration with respect to any Claim advanced in that proceeding by any other party. Claims and remedies sought as part of a class action, private attorney general or other representative action are subject to arbitration on an

individual (non-class, non-representative) basis, and the arbitrator may award relief only on an individual (non-class, non-representative) basis.

...

Claims must be brought in the name of an individual person or entity and must proceed on an individual (non-class, nonrepresentative) basis. The arbitrator will not award relief for or against anyone who is not a party. If you or we require arbitration of a Claim, neither you, we, nor any other person may pursue the Claims in arbitration as a class action, private attorney general action or other representative action, nor may such Claim be pursued on your or our behalf in any litigation in any court.

(1 CT 109-10.)

The trial court compelled individual arbitration of all claims for restitution or damages under all four causes of action. (6 CT 1409-15; 6 CT 1481-88.) However, the trial court denied the petition to compel arbitration only as to McGill's claims for public injunctive relief under the UCL, the FAL and the CLRA, staying those claims pending arbitration. (*Id.*) In partially denying the petition to compel arbitration as to the claims for injunctive relief, the trial court relied on the *Broughton-Cruz* rule. (6 CT 1436, 1439 [lines 19-21].)

III. THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER PARTIALLY DENYING CITIBANK'S PETITION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION BASED ON THE BROUGHTON-CRUZ RULE WAS REVERSED ON APPEAL

Citibank appealed the trial court's order partially denying the petition to compel arbitration as to McGill's injunctive relief claims. In a court-ordered supplemental letter addressing the impact of Iskanian v. CLS Transportation Los Angeles LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, McGill argued that Iskanian, which held that the FAA did not mandate enforcement of a waiver of the right to pursue a representative action under PAGA, preserves the right to pursue an analogous private attorney general action for public injunctive relief in court under California's consumer protection statutes. (McGill's Letter Brief of July 23, 2014.) Separately, McGill argued that even if the FAA preempted Broughton-Cruz, forcing her claims into arbitration would be tantamount to extinguishing her substantive state-law claims. (Id.)

At oral argument, McGill responded to the Court's questions and Citibank's arguments, and argued that even if the *Broughton-Cruz* rule were preempted, Citibank's Agreement would be unenforceable to the extent that it expressly bars the arbitrator from awarding public injunctive relief, thereby foreclosing McGill from obtaining that relief in any forum.

On December 18, 2014, the Court of Appeal issued a published decision reversing the trial court's order and remanding with instructions for "the trial court to order all claims to arbitration," including the injunction claims. (Slip op. at p.23.) In so holding, the Court of Appeal concluded that "the Federal Arbitration Act ... preempts the *Broughton-Cruz* rule" under a broad reading of *AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion* (2011) 131 S.Ct. 1740, which preempted a California rule that invalidated class action waivers in consumer agreements. (*Id.* at p.14.) The

Court of Appeal further reasoned that the "effective vindication" exception to FAA preemption does not apply to state statutory claims (*id.* at pp.15-17), and that public injunctive relief claims are too dissimilar from PAGA claims to fit under the limitations of FAA preemption recognized in *Iskanian*. (*Id.* at p.22.) The Court of Appeal did not address whether Citibank's express ban on the award of public injunctive relief is enforceable.

McGill timely filed a Petition for Rehearing in the Court of Appeal on January 2, 2015. She argued that the Court of Appeal should have addressed and accepted her argument that, even if the *Broughton-Cruz* rule were preempted, the trial court's order should be affirmed because the contractual provisions prohibiting awards of public injunctive relief amount to a total bar on McGill's right to pursue statutory remedies provided for under the UCL, the FAL, and the CLRA, running afoul of binding case law. However, the Court of Appeal denied the Petition for Rehearing, stating that this argument had been waived and declining to reach it.

McGill then filed a petition for review, which this Court granted on April 1, 2015.

ARGUMENT

- I. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER THE CLRA, UCL, AND FAL IS A POWERFUL REMEDY THAT PROTECTS THE PUBLIC
 - A. The UCL And The CLRA Were Enacted To Protect The Public

As this Court has recognized, the "[p]rotection of unwary consumers from being duped by unscrupulous sellers is an exigency of the utmost priority in contemporary society." (Vasquez v. Super. Ct. (1971) 4 Cal.3d 800, 808.) To protect California's consumers from deceptive business practices, the legislature enacted three important laws, each with an injunctive relief component: the UCL, the FAL, and the narrower CLRA.

1. The UCL and FAL

The UCL provides that "unfair competition shall mean and include any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice and unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising and any act prohibited by" the FAL. (Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200.) The FAL, in turn, prohibits a person or corporation from making, or causing to be made, any statement that is untrue or likely to mislead consumers regarding the nature of a product or service. (Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500.) One distinctive attribute of the UCL is that it "borrows' violations of other laws and treats them as unlawful practices that the [statute] makes independently actionable." (Cel-Tech Communications v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephone (1999) 20 Cal.4th 163, 180.)

The FAL is thus a component of the UCL, and "any violation of the false advertising law necessarily violates the UCL." (*Kasky v. Nike, Inc.* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 939, 950-51

[internal citations and punctuation omitted].) The FAL prohibits "not only advertising which is false, but also advertising which, although true, is actually misleading or which has a capacity, likelihood, or tendency to mislead the public." (*Ibid.* [citation omitted].)

Sections 17204 and 17535 of the Business and Professions Code authorize a private party to enforce the UCL and FAL:

Through the UCL, a plaintiff may obtain injunctive restitution and/or against unfair or unlawful practices in order to protect the public and restore to the parties in interest money or property taken by means of unfair competition. These actions supplement the efforts of enforcement and regulatory law This Court has repeatedly agencies. recognized the importance of these private enforcement actions.

(Kraus v. Trinity Management Svcs. (2000) 23 Cal.4th 116, 126 [citations omitted]; see also Trafficante v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. (1972) 409 U.S. 205, 211 [creation of private attorney general action "is not uncommon in modern legislative programs" to augment the limited resources of government agencies in implementing important legislative policy].)

2. The CLRA

The CLRA proscribes a wide array of "unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices undertaken by any person" with the intent to "result or which results in the sale or lease of goods or services to any consumer..." (Civ. Code § 1770.) The CLRA's scope is narrower than the UCL's, is expressly limited to transactions involving a "consumer" as

defined by the CLRA, proscribes 22 specific acts or practices, and is "confined largely to deceptive representations." (*Vasquez*, *supra*, 4 Cal.3d at p.818.) The CLRA expressly provides: "Any waiver by a consumer of this title is contrary to public policy and shall be unenforceable and void." (Civ. Code § 1751.)

The legislature intended the CLRA to be "liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purposes, which are to protect consumers against unfair and deceptive business practices and to provide efficient and economical procedures to secure such protection." (Civ. Code § 1760.) As part of these economical procedures, the CLRA requires a consumer first to notify the person alleged to have committed acts in violation of §1770 of the alleged violations and "[d]emand that such person correct, repair, replace or otherwise rectify the goods or services alleged to be in violation of Section 1770." (Civ. Code § 1780, subd.(a)(1).) If the person to whom notice has been given has not provided the appropriate correction or remedy, or has not agreed to do so, within 30 days, the consumer may then file a court action. (Id.) Thus, under the CLRA, the prospective defendant may avoid the filing of the court action by remedying or agreeing to remedy the problem. (Id.)

These and other heightened protections² for California consumers embody the vital importance of protecting consumers from fraud and misrepresentations in California's statutory scheme.

² The CLRA also authorizes a more permissive procedure for certifying a CLRA class than is set forth under Code of Civil Procedure § 382.

B. Californians Benefit From The Availability of Public Injunctions

Injunctive relief is a critical tool in protecting California citizens, and is widely available for consumers pursuing private attorney general actions under the UCL, the FAL, and/or the CLRA.

The focus of the UCL is "on the defendant's conduct, rather than the plaintiff's damage, in service of the statute's larger purpose of protecting the general public against unscrupulous business practices." (In re Tobacco II Cases (2009) 46 Cal.4th 298, 312.) To that end, the UCL vests a trial court with broad power to "enjoin on-going wrongful business conduct in whatever context such activity might occur." (Barquis v. Merchants Collection Assn. (1972) 7 Cal.3d 94, 111.)

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