# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SHARON MCGILL,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

SUPREME COURT

v.

NOV 2 - 2015

CITIBANK, N.A.,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Defendant and Appellant.

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Three (Case No. G049838), From the Superior Court, County of Riverside (Case No. RIC1109398), Commissioner John W. Vineyard

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STROOCK & STROOCK & LAVAN LLP Julia B. Strickland (SBN 083013) Stephen J. Newman (SBN 181570) David W. Moon (SBN 197711) Marcos D. Sasso (SBN 228905) 2029 Century Park East, Suite 1800 Los Angeles, California 90067 Telephone: 310-556-5800

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

## IV. ARGUMENT

A. Pursuant To The FAA And Extensive United States Supreme Court Precedent, The Arbitration Agreement Must Be Enforced As Written.

Pursuant to the FAA, arbitration agreements in contracts "evidencing a transaction involving [interstate] commerce . . . shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." 9 U.S.C. § 2. As explained by the Supreme Court in *Concepcion*, the FAA was enacted in response to "widespread judicial hostility to arbitration agreements" and "reflect[s] both a 'liberal federal policy favoring arbitration' and the 'fundamental principle that arbitration is a matter of contract." *Concepcion*, 131 S. Ct.

at 1745-46 (internal citations omitted). Thus, as directed by the Supreme Court, "courts must place arbitration agreements on an equal footing with other contracts and enforce them according to their terms." *Concepcion*, 131 S. Ct. 1745-46; *see also id.* at 1748 (stating that the "overarching purpose of the FAA . . . is to ensure the enforcement of arbitration agreements according to their terms so as to facilitate streamlined proceedings").

It is well settled that state law regarding arbitration is preempted by the FAA unless "that law arose to govern issues concerning the validity, revocability, and enforceability of contracts generally. A state-law principle that takes its meaning precisely from the fact that a contract to arbitrate is at issue does not comport with" the FAA. Perry v. Thomas, 482 U.S. 483, 492 n.9 (1987); see also Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto, 517 U.S. 681, 687 (1996) (courts may not "invalidate arbitration agreements under state laws applicable only to arbitration provisions" because "Congress precluded States from singling out arbitration provisions for suspect status . . . "). A state law doctrine "normally thought to be generally applicable," that is "applied in a fashion that disfavors arbitration" or has a "disproportionate impact on arbitration agreements," plainly is preempted. Id. at 1747; see also Coneff v. AT&T Corp., 673 F.3d 1155, 1160 (9th Cir. 2012) (courts may not leverage "the uniqueness of an agreement to arbitrate' to achieve a result that the state legislature cannot") (quoting

Concepcion, 131 S. Ct. at 1747). Thus, "[w]hen state law prohibits outright the arbitration of a particular type of claim, the analysis is straightforward: The conflicting rule is displaced by the FAA." Concepcion, 131 S. Ct. at 1747. In addition, "defenses that apply only to arbitration or that derive their meaning from the fact that an agreement to arbitrate is at issue" are preempted by the FAA. *Id.* at 1746.

As set forth in Concepcion and repeatedly thereafter, the United States Supreme Court has made abundantly clear that the FAA requires enforcement of arbitration agreements as written and that the FAA preempts state law that would limit the enforceability of such agreements. Rejecting public policy arguments regarding the availability of a class remedy for small-dollar claims, the Supreme Court confirmed in Concepcion that agreements to arbitrate on an individual basis are fully enforceable, even if small-dollar claims may slip through the legal system. See Concepcion, 131 S. Ct. at 1753 (abrogating Discover Bank). Shortly after Concepcion, in KPMG LLP v. Cocchi, 132 S. Ct. 23, 24-25 (2011), the Supreme Court reaffirmed the "emphatic federal policy in favor of arbitral dispute resolution," directing that "[a]greements to arbitrate that fall within the scope and coverage of the [FAA] must be enforced in state and federal courts." And again, in CompuCredit Corp. v. Greenwood, 132 S. Ct. 665, 671 (2012), the Supreme Court rejected the argument that statutory classaction claims could not be compelled to individual arbitration, holding "that contractually required arbitration of claims satisfies the statutory prescription of civil liability in court."

The immediately subsequent decision in Marmet Health Care Center, Inc. v. Brown, 132 S. Ct. 1201, 1204 (2012), discussed in detail below, is particularly compelling here. In Marmet, the Supreme Court held that state laws that prohibit arbitration on "public policy" grounds are preempted by the FAA. And most recently, in American Express v. Italian Colors Restaurant, 133 S. Ct. 2304, 2309 (2013), the Supreme Court again emphasized the importance of enforcing arbitration agreements according to their terms, reiterating that the "text [of the FAA] reflects the overarching principle that arbitration is a matter of contract . . . [a]nd consistent with that text, courts must 'rigorously enforce' arbitration agreements according to their terms, . . . including terms that 'specify with whom [the parties] choose to arbitrate their disputes' . . . and 'the rules under which that arbitration will be conducted") (internal citations omitted).

# B. The *Broughton-Cruz* Rule Does Not Survive *Concepcion* And Its Progeny.

The instant case squarely presents the question of whether the Broughton-Cruz rule remains viable in light of Concepcion, an issue that this Court has not addressed.<sup>3</sup> Given the United States Supreme Court's emphatic direction in *Concepcion* and its progeny, the conclusion in *Broughton* and *Cruz*—that state-law claims seeking public injunctive relief are not subject to arbitration—simply does not survive.

The United States Supreme Court held in *Concepcion* that this Court's prior holding in *Discover Bank* improperly created an obstacle to the FAA's objective of enforcing arbitration agreements according to their terms, and thus this Court's *Discover Bank* rule was preempted. *See Concepcion*, 131 S. Ct. at 1750, 1753. In so holding, the Supreme Court emphasized that "courts must place arbitration agreements on an equal footing with other contracts . . . and enforce them according to their terms." *Id.* at 1745 (citation omitted). Indeed, the United States Supreme Court is currently considering whether the FAA displaces state-law doctrines even when the arbitration agreement itself references state law. *See Imburgia v. DirecTV, Inc.*, 225 Cal. App. 4th 338, 343-45 (2014), *cert. granted*, No. 14-462 (U.S. Mar. 23, 2015).

Like the abrogation of Discover Bank in *Concepcion*, the Supreme Court's decision in *Marmet* confirms that the FAA's preemption extends to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In Sanchez v. Valencia Holding Co., LLC, 61 Cal. 4th 899, 924 (2015), this Court held that the CLRA's anti-waiver provision is preempted to the extent it bars class waivers in arbitration agreements covered by the FAA. Sanchez did not reach the issue of whether the Broughton-Cruz rule remains valid in light of Concepcion.

state public policy justifications, such as the *Broughton-Cruz* rule. In *Marmet*, the Supreme Court enforced an arbitration agreement between a nursing home and a patient's family member in a suit against the nursing home for personal injury or wrongful death, despite the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals' conclusion that arbitration of such claims offended that state's public policy. *See Marmet*, 132 S. Ct. at 1203-04. Because the public policy of West Virginia "prohibit[ed] outright the arbitration of a particular type of claim"—personal injury and wrongful death claims—that policy was "displaced by the FAA." *Id.* at 1203 (quoting *Concepcion*, 131 S. Ct. at 1747). Accordingly, the Supreme Court remanded the case with directions for the West Virginia court to evaluate the arbitration agreement at issue without considering state public policy. *Id.* at 1204.

Both the California Court of Appeal and the Ninth Circuit agree that the *Broughton-Cruz* rule does not survive *Concepcion*. In addition to the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in this case, in *Nelsen v*.

Legacy Partners Residential, Inc., 207 Cal. App. 4th 1115, 1135-36 (2012), as modified on denial of reh'g (Aug. 14, 2012), the First District Court of Appeal confirmed that "[u]nder *Concepcion*, the FAA preempts any rule or policy rooted in state law that subjects agreements to arbitrate particular kinds of claims to more stringent standards of enforceability than contracts generally. Absolute prohibitions on the arbitration of particular kinds of

claims such as that reflected in *Broughton-Cruz* are the *clearest example of such policies*[.]... Since *Broughton-Cruz* prohibits outright the arbitration of claims for public injunctive relief, it is in conflict with the FAA." *Id.* (emphasis added).<sup>4</sup>

The Ninth Circuit similarly has made clear that the *Broughton-Cruz* rule is contrary to *Concepcion* and its progeny. In *Ferguson*, 733 F.3d 928, plaintiffs brought various claims against for-profit schools, asserting that defendants engaged in a deceptive scheme to procure enrollment of prospective students. *Id.* at 930. Among other things, plaintiffs sought injunctive relief under the UCL, FAL and CLRA. *Id.* Reversing the district court's decision declining to compel arbitration of claims seeking injunctive relief, the Ninth Circuit found the *Broughton-Cruz* rule "clearly irreconcilable" with the United States Supreme Court's decisions in *Concepcion* and *Marmet. Id.* at 934. As explained by the Ninth Circuit, the Supreme Court stated a simple rule: "When state law prohibits outright the arbitration of a particular type of claim, the analysis is straightforward: The conflicting rule is displaced by the FAA." *Id.* (quoting *Concepcion*, 131 S.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Plaintiff in *Nelsen* asserted statutory wage claims and a UCL claim seeking, among other things, injunctive relief on behalf of a putative class of defendant's current and former employees. *See id.* at 1120-21. The Court of Appeal noted that the parties disputed whether the injunction sought was a "public" injunction under *Broughton* and *Cruz* and ultimately held that plaintiff had waived her argument that her claim for injunctive relief was inarbitrable under the *Broughton-Cruz* rule by failing to raise it in the trial court. *See id.* at 1136.

Ct. at 1747). The Ninth Circuit therefore concluded that: "By exempting from arbitration claims for public injunctive relief under the CLRA, UCL, and FAL, the *Broughton–Cruz* rule similarly prohibits outright arbitration of a particular type of claim." *Ferguson*, 733 F.3d at 934.

This Court has recently acknowledged the impact of Concepcion and its progeny. For example, in Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. v. Moreno (Sonic II), 57 Cal. 4th 1109 (2013), cert. denied, 134 S. Ct. 2724 (2014), this Court reconsidered its opinion in Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. v. Moreno (Sonic I), 51 Cal. 4th 659 (2011), which had established a "categorical rule" that it was contrary to public policy and unconscionable for an employment arbitration agreement to waive the employee's right to seek an informal hearing before the Labor Commissioner, a so-called "Berman" hearing. Sonic II, 57 Cal. 4th at 1124. The decision in Sonic II overturned this "categorical rule" in light of Concepcion, which this Court found to have "clarified the limitations that the FAA imposes on a state's capacity to enforce its rules of unconscionability on parties to arbitration agreements," explaining that "[w]here a state-law rule interferes with fundamental attributes of arbitration, the FAA preempts the state-law rule even if the rule is designed to facilitate prosecution of certain kinds of claims. Concepcion established this principle, Italian Colors reaffirmed it, and we apply it today to invalidate the categorical rule on waiving a Berman hearing that we adopted in Sonic I." Sonic II, 57 Cal. 4th at 1124, 1157.

In *Iskanian v. CLS Transportation Los Angeles, LLC*, 59 Cal. 4th 348 (2014), this Court similarly reconsidered its earlier opinion in *Gentry v. Superior Court*, 42 Cal. 4th 443 (2007). Overturning its earlier decision in *Gentry* declining to enforce an arbitration agreement, this Court concluded that "a state's refusal to enforce [a class] waiver on grounds of public policy or unconscionability is preempted by the FAA." *Iskanian*, 59 Cal. 4th at 360. This Court specifically reasoned that *Gentry* had been abrogated in this regard by recent United States Supreme Court precedent, including *Concepcion* and *Italian Colors. See id.* at 364.

As reflected in *Sonic II* and *Iskanian*, substantial United States

Supreme Court authority requires that prior rulings regarding the enforceability of arbitration agreements be reassessed. There simply is no sound legal basis to distinguish between the *Broughton-Cruz* rule and the *Discover Bank* rule. Neither survives *Concepcion* and its progeny. Both are state-law rules that impermissibly prevent enforcing arbitration agreements according to their terms by "prohibit[ing] outright the arbitration of a *particular type of claim*." *Concepcion*, 131 S. Ct. at 1747 (emphasis added). Therefore, "the analysis is *straightforward*: The conflicting rule is *displaced* by the FAA." *Concepcion*, 131 S. Ct. at 1747 (emphasis added). Nor should this Court's FAA analysis be influenced by a belief that allowing a claim to be litigated will more effectively vindicate the substantive rights at issue. "[T]he high court has established that the

FAA does not permit courts to invalidate arbitration agreements based on the view that the procedures they set forth would weaken the protections afforded in the substantive law to would-be complainants." *Iskanian*, 59 Cal. 4th at 393 (Chen, J., concurring) (internal citation, alteration and quotation marks omitted).

For each of these reasons, this Court should make clear that the Broughton-Cruz rule is no longer good law in light of Concepcion and its progeny.

- C. McGill's Contention That The Arbitration Agreement "Bans" Arbitration Of Her Claims For Public Injunctive Relief Is Without Merit.
  - 1. McGill Did Not Properly Preserve This Argument For Review By This Court.

Attempting to avoid the conclusion that the *Broughton-Cruz* rule is no longer viable, McGill argues that the Arbitration Agreement itself, rather than public policy as announced in *Broughton* and *Cruz*, should be construed to permit litigation of her claims for public injunctive relief. (*See* Respondent's Opening Br. 18.)

As a threshold matter, McGill did not properly preserve this argument. Indeed, she presented the completely opposite position below. In the Court of Appeal, she maintained that "Citibank's arbitration agreement does *not* expressly bar Plaintiff from seeking public injunctive relief in arbitration," but that "due to limitations inherent in arbitration

(recognized in *Broughton*), an arbitrator cannot award such relief." (Pl.'s letter brief, July 23, 2014, at 7 (emphasis added).) She never argued, as she does now, that contractual restrictions on arbitrating these claims are the very things that save them from having to be arbitrated. Accordingly, McGill's new (and contrary) argument should not be considered for the first time here. *See Flannery v. Prentice*, 26 Cal. 4th 572, 591, 28 P.3d 860 (2001) ("As a matter of policy, on petition for review, we normally do not consider any issue that could have been but was not timely raised in the briefs filed in the Court of Appeal.")

2. The FAA Mandates Enforcement Of The Arbitration Agreement As Written, Regardless Of What It Says Or Implies About Claims Seeking Public Injunctive Relief.

As set forth above, the Arbitration Agreement specifically provides that claims "must be brought in the name of an individual person or entity and must proceed on an individual (non-class, non-representative) basis" and that "the arbitrator may award relief only on an individual (non-class, non-representative) basis." (Vol. 1 CT 108-110.) Even if ambiguous or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> McGill first advanced this argument in her Petition for Rehearing. The Court of Appeal correctly declined to entertain the argument, finding that McGill had waived the argument by failing to raise it below. (Order Denying Petition for Rehearing, Jan. 7, 2015, at 1-2.) That decision was correct, since it is well settled that arguments not presented in the briefs may not be raised for the first time either at oral argument or in a petition for rehearing. See Acquire II, Ltd. v. Colton Real Estate Grp., 213 Cal. App. 4th 959, 978 n.12 (2013); Gentis v. Safeguard Bus. Sys., Inc., 60 Cal. App. 4th 1294, 1308 (1998).

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